IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-000092

RECEIVED

OCT 05 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. d/b/a Stokes-Craven Ford Appellant

v.

Scott L. Robinson and Johnson, McKenzie & Robinson, LLC Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert B. Ransom
LEVENTIS & RANSOM
Post Office Box 11067
Columbia, SC 29211
803-765-2383

Attorney for the Appellant

Other counsel of record:

Warren C. Powell, Jr.
BRUNER, POWELL, WALL & MULLINS, LLC
Post Office Box 61110
Columbia, SC 29620-1110

Attorney for the Respondent Johnson, McKenzie & Robinson, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Does Rule 3.7 of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct prohibit an attorney who may be a testifying witness at the trial of the case from continuing to represent the client during pretrial proceedings?
2. Does Rule 3.7 of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct prohibit the law firm of an attorney who may be a testifying witness at the trial of the case from continuing to represent the client during pretrial proceedings?
3. Does Rule 3.7 of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct prohibit the law firm of an attorney who may be a testifying witness at the trial of the case from continuing to represent the client during trial?
4. Did the lower court err in ordering Mr. Epting to withdraw as counsel for Appellant five months prior to commencement of any trial?
5. Did the lower court err in ordering Mr. Epting's law firm to withdraw as counsel for Appellant five months prior to commencement of any trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This legal malpractice case was originally commenced by the filing of a Complaint on August 16, 2010. The malpractice alleged involves the professional conduct of the Respondents Scott L. Robinson and Johnson, McKenzie & Robinson, LLC while representing the Appellant Stokes-Craven's Ford dealership in a 2004 lawsuit alleging Stokes-Craven defrauded one of its customers, Donald Austin, when it sold Mr. Austin a used pickup truck in 2002.

A three day jury trial in 2006 resulted in a verdict for Mr. Austin and against Stokes-Craven in the amount of \$242,971.10 actual and punitive damages. During a lengthy series of appeals, the verdict was affirmed and substantial attorneys fees, costs, and interest were added to the verdict amount.¹

When the Supreme Court affirmed the jury verdict, Andrew K. Epting, Jr. and his law firm were retained to serve as counsel for Stokes-Craven. Mr. Epting made various efforts to resolve the dispute between the dealership and Mr. Austin by, among other things, vouching in the professional liability insurance carrier for Mr. Robinson and Johnson, McKenzie & Robinson, LLC. When the Supreme Court affirmed the award of attorneys fees to Mr. Austin's counsel, Stokes-Craven faced a motion to appoint a receiver to assist Mr. Austin in collecting his final judgment. In late December 2013, Stokes-Craven paid Mr. Austin \$1,060,000.00² and the Ford dealership was sold.

The instant legal malpractice action underwent a statute of limitations challenge which was not resolved until 2016.³ In August 2017, the lower court entered a scheduling order

¹ The facts and procedural history of Mr. Austin's case are detailed in Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp., 387 S.C. 22, 691 S.E.2d 135 (2010)(affirming the verdict in favor of Mr. Austin); and Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp., 406 S.C. 187, 750 S.E.2d 78 (2013)(affirming an award of attorneys fees to Mr. Austin's counsel).

² See, Stokes-Craven's Objections to Defendants' Proposed Order, Exhibits A and B (R. at pp. 102 and 104)

³ The lower court granted a motion for summary judgment on the statute of limitations, but was subsequently reversed by the South Carolina Supreme Court in Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson, 416 S.C. 517, 787 S.E.2d 485 (2016).

which, among other things, required Stokes-Craven to “name all experts it intends to use as witnesses at trial” on or before October 2, 2017.⁴ The scheduling order also set the case for jury trial “not before” April 30, 2018.

Pursuant to the scheduling order, on October 2, 2017 Stokes-Craven served the Plaintiff’s Expert Disclosure listing Mr. Epting as a witness.⁵ A supplemental disclosure was served on October 16, 2017 providing limited details about the information known to Mr. Epting.⁶ In response to the Plaintiff’s Expert Disclosure, Mr. Robinson and Johnson, McKenzie & Robinson, LLC quickly filed a joint motion asking the lower court to exclude Mr. Epting from serving as an expert witness or, alternatively, to immediately disqualify him from serving as counsel for Stokes-Craven.⁷

The lower court held a series of hearings on this motion, including proceedings transcribed on the record on October 13, 2017, October 19, 2017, and November 2, 2017. The parties submitted a variety of memoranda and evidentiary materials for the lower court to consider. Proposed orders were also submitted, resulting in a series of motions objecting to their contents. These proceedings culminated in the lower court’s November 30, 2017 order ruling that Mr. Epting and his law firm must withdraw as counsel for Stokes-Craven within five days.⁸ This ruling required Mr. Epting and his law firm to cease all representation of Stokes-Craven approximately five months before any trial date.

On December 11, 2017, Stokes-Craven served a Rule 59 motion asking the lower court to reconsider its ruling.⁹ Mr. Robinson and Johnson, McKenzie & Robinson, LLC served a joint

⁴ Scheduling Order Subsequent to Remittitur time-stamped on August 18, 2017 (R. at p. 18).

⁵ Plaintiff’s Expert Disclosure electronically filed on November 3, 2017 (R. at p. 56).

⁶ Plaintiff’s Supplemental Answers to Defendant Johnson, McKenzie & Robinson’s First Set of Interrogatories electronically filed on November 3, 2017 (R. at p. 194).

⁷ Defendants’ Joint Motion to Exclude Expert Witnesses or, in the Alternative, to Disqualify Plaintiff’s Counsel and Compel Discovery electronically filed on October 4, 2017 (R. at p. 48).

⁸ November 30, 2017 Order (R. at pp. 35 - 36).

⁹ Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.’s Motion to Reconsider Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC (ROA at p. 163 *et seq.*)

response on December 14, 2017.¹⁰ The lower court held a hearing on the motion on December 21, 2017. An order denying the motion was filed on January 12, 2018.¹¹ Stokes-Craven served its notice of appeal from this order on January 17, 2018.

¹⁰ Defendants' Response to Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP (R. at p. 191 *et seq.*)

¹¹ Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration (R. at p. 37 *et seq.*)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's decision to disqualify counsel is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion. Brooks v. S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense, 419 S.C. 319, 797 S.E.2d 402 (Ct. App. 2017). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence. *Ibid.*

However, if a trial court's decision involves an interpretation of a rule of professional conduct, the issue is one of law and the standard of review is *de novo*. F.D.I.C. v. U.S. Fire Insurance Co., 50 F.3d 1304 (5th Cir. 1995); see also, Brown & Pipkins, LLC v. Service Employees International Union, 846 F.3d 716 (4th Cir. 2017)(interpretation of a rule of procedure is reviewed *de novo*); CFRE, LLC v. Greenville County Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 716 S.E.2d 877 (2011)(statutory interpretation is reviewed *de novo*).

In a case raising a novel question of law, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the trial court. Hagood v. Sommerville, 362 S.C. 191, 607 S.E.2d 707 (2005). No South Carolina appellate court has specifically addressed the issue of when an attorney must withdraw as counsel due to disqualification under the witness advocate rule.

ARGUMENT

The lower court based its decision to disqualify Mr. Epting and his law firm five months before trial on the “witness advocate rule,” found in Rule 3.7 of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 407 SCACR:

RULE 3.7. LAWYER AS WITNESS

- (a) **A lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial** in which the lawyer is likely to be a necessary witness unless:
- (1) the testimony relates to an uncontested issue;
 - (2) the testimony relates to the nature and value of legal services rendered in the case; or
 - (3) disqualification of the lawyer would work substantial hardship on the client.
- (b) **A lawyer may act as advocate in a trial in which another lawyer in the lawyer’s firm is likely to be called as a witness** unless precluded from doing so by Rule 1.7 [Conflict of Interest: Current Clients] or Rule 1.9 [Duties to Former Clients].

(emphasis added)

The lower court erred in applying Rule 3.7 to disqualify Mr. Epting and his law firm from participating in pretrial proceedings, thereby depriving Stokes-Craven of the counsel it had worked with for almost eight years. The lower court also erred in applying Rule 3.7 to disqualify Mr. Epting’s law firm from representing Stokes-Craven at trial.

1. **There has been no trial from which to be disqualified**

The express language of Rule 3.7 makes clear that it only regulates a lawyer’s conduct “*at a trial*” or “*in a trial*.” The prohibitions set forth in Rule 3.7 simply do not apply to conduct occurring before a trial (e.g., during discovery) or after a trial (e.g., during an appeal). Because the lower court’s order disqualifies Mr. Epting and his firm from representation as much as five months before trial, it exceeds the scope of Rule 3.7’s express terms and constitutes a reversible error of law.

As Comment 2 to Rule 3.7 explains, the witness advocate rule is designed to protect “the trier of fact” from becoming “confused or misled” by the dual role of a lawyer who serves as both witness and advocate at trial. The rule therefore necessarily implies the presence of a

jury during a trial. Comment 3 to Rule 3.7 further explains that the prohibited confusion arises when a lawyer serves as witness and advocate “simultaneously,” thereby again implying the circumstance of a trial.

The South Carolina Bar’s Ethics Advisory Committee has made the following observation about the operation of the witness advocate rule contained in Rule 3.7:

While disqualified as counsel at trial, however, the lawyer may continue to assist in the representation to a limited extent, including participation in pre-trial proceedings, so long as the matter on which the lawyer is to testify is not at issue in the proceeding.

Ethics Advisory Op. No. 90-27.

The accuracy of the Ethics Committee’s observation is evident from the opinion of the South Carolina Court of Appeals in Collins Entertainment, Inc. v. White, 363 S.C. 546, 611 S.E. 2d 262 (Ct. App. 2005), wherein the trial court ruled, apparently “at the start of trial,” that one of the lawyers could not serve as both attorney and witness. The Collins case thus stands for the proposition that implementation of Mr. Epting’s disqualification could appropriately await the very eve of trial.

This is clearly the rule in Georgia, where the Court of Appeals has held that under Rule 3.7, “concerns about possible juror confusion are not relevant to pre-trial proceedings.” Clough v. Richelo, 274 Ga.App. 129, 616 S.E.2d 888 (2005). It is also the rule in North Carolina, where the Court of Appeals has ruled that a lawyer disqualified from being trial counsel under Rule 3.7 may nevertheless continue to represent the client in other capacities. Cunningham v. Sams, 161 N.C.App. 295, 588 S.E.2d 484 (2003). It is also the rule in Florida, where it has been held that “the fact that counsel may be a witness at trial does not disqualify counsel from participating in pretrial proceedings.” Cerillo v. Highley, 797 So.2d 1288, 1289 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001); *accord*, Lieberman v. Lieberman, 160 So.3d 73 (Fla. 4th DCA 2014).

The great weight of authority is that a lawyer disqualified due to his status as a witness may nevertheless continue to represent his client up until the time of trial. The lower court erred in failing to follow the rule laid down by multiple appellate courts addressing the scope of Rule 3.7’s witness advocate rule.

2. Mr. Epting's role as a rebuttal witness

In the lower court, Mr. Epting framed the issue of his withdrawal as a matter of timing.¹² Conceding that he would not act as both witness and advocate at trial,¹³ Mr. Epting sought leave to continue serving as counsel for Stokes-Craven up until the time of trial.¹⁴ At the hearings, Mr. Epting also sought to make clear that his role as a testifying witness was at all times contingent upon how the proof developed at trial.¹⁵

The Respondents seemed to struggle with the concept of a rebuttal witness whose testimony comes in reply to evidence presented at trial by a party opponent. Their argument on the motion to exclude/disqualify conflated the issue of whether Mr. Epting would be a witness with the determination of when he should withdraw:

We still need this hearing because Mr. Epting now tells us, oh, no, no, no, even though Your Honor's order says that he must name by — he must name all expert witnesses he intends to call at trial . . . Well, now he's going to tell Your Honor, oh, gosh, no. . . . * * * [H]e's still, as of this moment, the lawyer for the plaintiff.¹⁶

Depending upon what is presented to the jury, rebuttal testimony may or may not be necessary or prudent. If at trial the Respondents attack Stokes-Craven's conduct in grappling with Mr. Austin's verdict — in essence, challenging decisions made upon advice of counsel — in what other manner can such an attack be met than by testimony from the lawyer whose advice is implicated? If a lawyer's conduct is placed in issue, who else can explain it?

The underlying case possessed the unusual quality that the harm to Stokes-Craven continued to evolve long after the verdict was rendered. Attorneys fees were imposed in

¹² See, October 16, 2017 letter from Mr. Epting to Judge Nettles (R. at p. 177).

¹³ A Notice of Appearance was entered on the record by Mr. Ransom on October 17, 2017. See, Cleary v. Burlington Industries, Inc., 193 Ga. App. 81, 387 S.E.2d 36 (1989)(court approved conduct of party who retained new attorney and listed its original attorney as one of its witnesses for trial).

¹⁴ Transcript of October 13, 2017 hearing (R. at p. 203, lines 1-8).

¹⁵ Transcript of October 13, 2017 hearing (R. at p. 213, lines 15-17); Stokes-Craven's Objections to Defendants' Proposed Order (R. at p. 72).

¹⁶ Transcript of October 13, 2017 hearing (R. at p. 204, lines 11-18; and R. at p. 213, lines 3-4).

substantial amounts, appeals caused judgment interest to mount, and the final judgment placed the business on the verge of receivership.¹⁷ At each turn during this process, Stokes-Craven sought to both limit the damage and vouch in the Respondents, on the theory that their poor judgment exposed the dealership to the jury's verdict in the first place.

If the Respondents make no effort at trial to argue or prove that decisions taken during this time amounted to a failure of mitigation, then Mr. Epting will not need to testify in reply. If, on the other hand, the Respondents seek to undermine Stokes-Craven's conduct, acting by and through Mr. Epting, then who else besides Mr. Epting can effectively respond?

Importantly, as with all cases, the decision whether to call certain witnesses and present certain evidence is often a "game-day" decision. It may happen, it may not, it all depends on what develops before the jury. Weighing these considerations, Mr. Epting clearly stated his intention to "be a witness" rather than "counsel at trial,"¹⁸ and sought to limit his participation to ensuring "a smooth transition" to new counsel by assisting with the completion of discovery, then stepping aside to await the game-day decision whether to take the witness stand and provide rebuttal testimony if necessary.

When Mr. Epting said that he may or may not testify¹⁹ — preferring not to usurp the game-day decisions of trial counsel — this was taken as suggesting the Respondents would not be permitted to know Mr. Epting's role at trial until he either stood up from counsel table or sat down in the witness stand:

[H]e would continue on I take it as plaintiff's counsel and then at some unknown time a week before trial at the pretrial, during the — in the middle of the case decide to put himself on the stand and another lawyer take it from there.²⁰

* * *

Now Mr. Epting wants it sort of both ways. Well, he doesn't really know if he's an expert. He might be a fact witness, but he's going to hedge his steps on when

¹⁷ Transcript of October 13, 2017 hearing (R. at p. 12, lines 2-24).

¹⁸ See, October 16, 2017 letter from Mr. Epting to Judge Nettles (R. at p. 87).

¹⁹ Transcript of October 13, 2017 hearing (R. at p. 214, lines 3-5).

²⁰ Transcript of October 19, 2017 hearing (R. at pp. 239-240).

he's going to let us know and it may be boom right in the middle of trial at which point we would get a mistrial.²¹

These remarks are an opportunistic distortion of Mr. Epting's intentions. Mr. Epting clearly stated his decision to turn the trial of the case over to new counsel, whom Mr. Epting proposed to assist in completing discovery. Mr. Epting further proposed that other members of his firm would assist new counsel in preparing the case for trial. Mr. Epting never proposed nor sought an opportunity to ambush Respondents by changing his mind at trial.

The case of Orangeburg Sausage Co. v. Cincinnati Insurance Co., 316 S.C. 331, 450 S.E.2d 66 (Ct. App. 1994) involved a similar situation. A party's former lawyer was identified as a potential witness "but only in rebuttal, for the purpose of contradicting words and actions attributed to" the client by the opposing party. The trial court ruled Rule 3.7 did not prohibit the former lawyer from testifying and the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed. 316 S.C. at 348, 450 S.E.2d at 75.

The Georgia appellate courts have also recognized that a lawyer is more likely to be allowed to serve as both witness and advocate at trial — a dual role not being sought by Mr. Epting here — when his or her testimony is made in rebuttal. Martin v. State, 298 Ga. 259, 779 S.E.2d 342 (2015).

3. Characterization of Mr. Epting as an "expert" witness

Rule 702, SCRE controls the admissibility of evidence from witnesses who seek to testify as experts:

If scientific, technical, or otherwise specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

In professional liability cases, it is common to present expert opinion testimony to establish the standard of care and the defendant's breach of that standard. Mr. Epting was not

²¹ Transcript of October 19, 2017 hearing (R. at p. 246).

identified to serve in this role. Standard of care testimony will instead be provided in this case by Ronald L. Richter, Jr.²²

Unlike a witness who reviews records and deposition testimony in order to provide opinions relative to compliance with professional standards of care, Mr. Epting is instead someone whose education and training as a lawyer, and whose personal participation in handling Mr. Austin's verdict, will enable him to help lay jurors understand how and why Mr. Austin's judgment against Stokes-Craven was resolved as it was.²³ Mr. Epting is uniquely able to testify about this because of his first-hand involvement in the events themselves. Mr. Epting's testimony is intended to be factual rather than opinion in nature, although it may well involve technical or specialized details.²⁴

Time and time again, Mr. Epting informed the lower court that his designation as an "expert" witness was made in this light, in an abundance of caution.²⁵ Mr. Epting explicitly said, "I don't think I would be an expert. I think I would be a fact witness."²⁶ Yet before the lower court, the Respondents simply ignored this nuance, perceiving a greater chance for victory in characterizing Mr. Epting as a "voluntary expert witness" (as opposed to a necessary fact witness). The Respondents sought to up the ante by demanding access to "all of his file materials," contending that because Mr. Epting was now a retained expert who would provide opinion testimony, none of his client file could be protected by any privilege.²⁷

In the Matter of Crews, 389 S.C. 322, 698 S.E.2d 785 (2010) involved an analogous situation in which a lawyer for the Office of Disciplinary Counsel served as an investigator on a

²² Transcript of October 13, 2017 hearing (R. at p. 205, lines 8-9 and 15-16).

²³ See, Stokes-Craven's Objections to Defendants' Proposed Order (R. at p. 182); Transcript of October 13, 2017 hearing (R. at p. 208).

²⁴ See, Transcript of October 19, 2017 hearing (R. at p. 244).

²⁵ Transcript of October 19, 2017 hearing (R. at pp. 233-234; and at pp. 244-245).

²⁶ Transcript of November 2, 2017 hearing (R. at pp. 273-274).

²⁷ See, October 16, 2017 letter from Ms. Wall to Judge Nettles (R. at pp. 89-91); and Defendants' Joint Memorandum in Response to Plaintiff's Objections to Proposed Order and in Support of Updated Proposed Order (R. at p. 81).

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