THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000092

---

Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. d/b/a Stokes-Craven Ford ..... Appellant,

v.

Scott L. Robinson and Johnson McKenzie & Robinson, LLC..... Respondents.

---

**RESPONDENTS' JOINT FINAL BRIEF**

---

Susan Taylor Wall  
Email: [swall@grsm.com](mailto:swall@grsm.com)  
Henry W. Frampton, IV  
Email: [hframpton@grsm.com](mailto:hframpton@grsm.com)  
GORDON & REES, LLP  
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 350  
Charleston, SC 29401  
Phone: (843) 278-5900  
*Attorneys for Respondent*  
*Scott L. Robinson*

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

The conflict-of-interest concern is particularly strong because there is no attorney-client privilege between lawyers acting as expert witnesses and their clients under South Carolina law, which is consistent with ABA Formal Ethics Op. 97-407 (May 13, 1997) (“[I]f an expert may testify at trial and his name has been provided to opposing counsel pursuant to applicable procedural rules, he may be deposed by the opposing party. Communications between the expert and the retaining law firm or its client employed by the expert in preparing his testimony ordinarily are discoverable.”) Thus, by choosing to testify as an expert, Mr. Epting has opened to discovery communications that otherwise would be privileged.

Any privilege that may have existed between Mr. Epting and Stokes-Craven by virtue of the attorney-client relationship vanished when Mr. Epting offered himself as an expert witness to testify concerning the reasonableness of Stokes-Craven's acts and omissions in settling this case. It is well-settled that the attorney-client privilege is waived when a client places its communications with its lawyer at issue. *See, e.g., United States v. White*, 944 F. Supp. 2d 454, 459 (D.S.C. 2013) (explaining circumstances under which privilege is waived by placing attorney-client communications at issue). Here, it is inconceivable that Mr. Epting could opine on the claimed reasonableness of Stokes-Craven's actions—and his own actions and legal strategy on Stokes-Craven's behalf—without placing his communications with Stokes-Craven at issue. Thus, the probability of Stokes-Craven and/or Mr. Epting being required to divulge otherwise privileged information that harms Stokes-Craven's case is substantial, resulting in a conflict of interest under Rule 1.7, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR.

In sum, Mr. Epting's service as an expert witness creates a serious conflict of interest issue under Rule 1.7 because of the significant risk that his responsibilities as an expert witness result in a waiver of the attorney-client privilege with Stokes-Craven and a Rule 1.7 conflict is imputable to his law firm under Rule 1.10, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR. As the annotations to Rule 1.10 state, "The basic rule governing imputation of disqualification is relatively simple. When a lawyer in a firm is disqualified from handling a matter by virtue of a conflict of interest under Rule[s] 1.7 . . . no other member of the lawyer's law firm may undertake the representation . . . . The rule of imputation is based on the principle that lawyers practicing together owe a common duty of loyalty to the clients of the firm." Thus the conflict prevents the law firm from continuing to represent Stokes-Craven. For this reason as well, it was entirely proper for the trial court to require Mr. Epting's law firm to withdraw from the representation.

#### IV. THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY EXERCISED HIS DISCRETION OVER THE TIMING OF MR. EPTING'S WITHDRAWAL.

As set forth above, Mr. Epting told the trial court that the appropriate time for him to withdraw would be after the depositions of Stokes-Craven's two damages experts and before Mr. Epting's deposition. (R. p. 287, lines 4-21.) Because Mr. Epting did not argue to the trial court that he should be allowed to remain as counsel until trial and instead specifically argued that he should withdraw toward the end of the discovery period, any contention that Mr. Epting did not have to withdraw until trial is waived. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." (internal citations and quotation marks omitted)).

More fundamentally, it is well-settled in South Carolina that trial courts have inherent power to control their dockets, manage discovery, and protect the rights of the parties. *Williams*, 274 S.C. at 279, 262 S.E.2d at 883; *Arthur*, 368 S.C. at 333, 628 S.E.2d at 898. Here, the trial court properly exercised that power in an attempt to mitigate the myriad problems caused to the court system, to Respondents, and to Stokes-Craven itself by Mr. Epting's decision to serve as an expert witness. Nothing in Rule 3.7 or any other rule prevents a trial court from exercising its inherent case management authority to require that a lawyer who has offered himself as an expert witness withdraw at a time before trial determined by the court.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Notably, none of the cases cited by Stokes-Craven in its Brief hold to the contrary. Rather, *Clough v. Richelo*, 616 S.E.2d 888 (Ga. Ct. App. 2005), merely contains dicta by the Georgia Court of Appeals that a lawyer who intends to serve as a necessary fact witness—not an expert witness—can, as a general proposition, continue to undertake some pre-trial responsibilities for the client. This dicta, however, was not addressed to a particular situation, expressly noted that there are exceptions, and did not address a lawyer serving as an expert witness. *Id.* at 895-96. Likewise, in *Cunningham v. Sams*, 588 S.E.2d 484 (N.C. Ct. App. 2003), the North Carolina Court of Appeals was not presented with a lawyer seeking to serve as an expert witness, and the court expressly noted that the party seeking disqualification failed to provide any reasons for disqualification before trial. *Id.* at 487. Here, the circuit court had and articulated myriad reasons for exercising its case management authority requiring Mr. Epting to withdraw before trial. The same is true for *Cerillo v. Highley*, 797 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 4th Dist. Ct. App. 2001), and

**A. The Roles of Advocate and Expert Witness Are Wholly Inconsistent.**

As the ABA Standing Committee on Ethics and Professional Responsibility has noted, and as is consistent with South Carolina law, the roles of advocate and expert witness are wholly inconsistent. The Committee explained the stark differences as follows:

The testifying expert provides evidence that lies within his special knowledge by reason of training and experience and has a duty to provide the court, on behalf of the other law firm and its client, truthful and accurate information. To be sure, the testifying expert may review selected discovery materials, suggest factual support for his expected testimony and exchange with the law firm legal authority applicable to his testimony. The testifying expert also may help the law firm to define potential areas for further inquiry, and he is expected to present his testimony in the most favorable way to support the law firm's side of the case. **He nevertheless is presented as objective and must provide opinions adverse to the party for whom he expects to testify if frankness so dictates. A duty to advance a client's objectives diligently through all lawful measures, which is inherent in a client-lawyer relationship, is inconsistent with the duty of a testifying expert.**

ABA Formal Ethics Op. 97-407 (May 13, 1997) (emphasis added).

Because the roles are wholly inconsistent, allowing Mr. Epting to serve as both counsel and as a designated expert in the final phases of discovery would taint the court system and condone an impermissible conflict of interest. If allowed to continue the representation, Mr. Epting will continue to make, respond to, and argue motions, will prepare witnesses and defend depositions, will consult with Stokes-Craven on legal strategy, and will take depositions, **all while crafting his own expert testimony.** It would stretch the imagination and impugn the integrity of the court system to presume that Mr. Epting could somehow compartmentalize his

---

*Lieberman v. Lieberman*, 160 So.3d 73 (Fla. 4th Dist. Ct. App. 2014). Thus, Stokes-Craven has not presented the Court with any cases remotely supporting its contention that the circuit court lacks authority, in its sound discretion, to require a lawyer serving as expert witness to withdraw during discovery.

role as a zealous advocate and not allow that role to subsume and shape his role as a testifying expert.

The utter inconsistency between the roles of expert witness and advocate do not spring into existence for the first time at trial, or even on the date of the expert's deposition. Rather, because Mr. Epting would be simultaneously acting as an advocate in this case while preparing his expert testimony throughout the final phases of discovery, the conflict and taint existed at the moment Mr. Epting was designated as an expert witness, and perhaps before. Often, courts handle an improper attempt from a lawyer to serve as expert witness by simply excluding the expert testimony. *See, e.g., Jarzyna v. Home Props., L.P.*, 201 F. Supp. 3d 650, 662 (E.D. Pa. 2016). Here, however, the trial court was generous in allowing Mr. Epting and his client to choose the role in which they thought Mr. Epting could best serve Stokes-Craven. (R. p. 217, lines 18-21.) Because Mr. Epting continued to be designated as an expert witness, it was entirely proper for the trial court to then require that he withdraw from acting as an advocate in the case.

**B. Mr. Epting Cannot Serve as a Designated Expert in a Matter in Which He Retains a Financial Interest.**

As discussed above, the law does not allow an expert witness to have a financial interest in the outcome of a case. As soon as Mr. Epting was identified as an expert witness and did not withdraw as counsel, he became an identified testifying expert with a financial interest in the outcome, in violation of the law. Logically, the only cure for that violation was for him to withdraw as counsel or withdraw as expert. The court gave him the choice between these options, and he chose to withdraw as counsel. It was certainly within the discretion of the trial court to enforce the rule against an expert remaining as advocate for a party (Stokes-Craven's attorney) by requiring that a choice be made between the two roles as soon as the violation occurred.

### C. Allowing Mr. Epting To Continue To Serve As Counsel and Expert Creates Substantial Privilege Problems.

It is axiomatic that the attorney-client privilege cannot be used as a sword and a shield. Rather, as the Restatement puts it, a party must “either permit a fair presentation of the issues raised by the client [by waiving the privilege] or protect the right to keep privileged communications secret by not raising at all an issue whose fair exposition requires examining the [privileged] communications.” Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers § 80 (Reporter’s Notes). Moreover, the law does not allow strategic or partial waivers of the attorney-client privilege. Instead, once the privilege is waived as to one communication, the privilege is waived as to all materials on the same subject so as to level the playing field and ensure that a party is not waiving as to favorable materials while trying to protect unfavorable materials. *See, e.g., In re Martin Marietta Corp.*, 856 F.2d 619, 623 (4th Cir. 1988) (rejecting limited or partial waiver of privilege); *Shukh v. Seagate Technology, LLC*, 848 F. Supp. 2d 987, 990-991 (D. Minn. 2011) (noting the purpose of subject-matter waiver is to prevent a party from waiving privilege to favorable communications while asserting privilege to unfavorable communications). Finally, it is well-settled under South Carolina law that there is no privilege between the client and a testifying expert—even if the expert is a lawyer—because the expert-client relationship is not an attorney-client relationship.

Once Mr. Epting was identified as an expert witness, Stokes-Craven created significant privilege problems with all of Mr. Epting’s communications. Respondents’ position is that no communications are privileged because they are between an expert witness and client. Allowing a dual role as expert and attorney for a party creates the opportunity to allow Stokes-Craven to attempt to shield some communications made to or from Mr. Epting *as attorney* vs. to or from Mr. Epting *as expert* which merely invites abuse, as it would be all too easy for Stokes-Craven to

create self-serving “expert-client” communications while shielding all real or unfavorable “attorney-client” communications. While it is the better analysis to conclude that all communications between Mr. Epting and Stokes-Craven are discoverable, it is in the best interest of all—including Stokes-Craven—to avoid the morass created by Mr. Epting’s attempt to serve in two wholly inconsistent roles at the same time. It was well within the trial court’s discretion as case manager to avoid this utterly unnecessary problem by requiring Mr. Epting to withdraw shortly after his identification as an expert witness. The trial court properly exercised its discretion in requiring Mr. Epting to withdraw within five days of the filing of the trial court’s Order, which was within 90 days of the close of discovery, to avoid the myriad problems created by Mr. Epting’s identification as an expert witness and to move this eight-year-old case to trial. (R. pp. 27-36.)

**D. Forcing Respondents To Complete All Other Discovery Before Deposing or Subpoenaing Mr. Epting Would Be Unfair and Prejudicial.**

When Mr. Epting admitted to the trial court that he would have to withdraw as counsel before trial, he suggested that he be allowed to remain as counsel until Respondents completed the bulk of the remaining discovery, including document discovery and depositions of Stokes-Craven’s damages experts. (R. p. 287, lines 4-21.) Essentially, under Mr. Epting’s plan, he would remain as Stokes-Craven’s counsel until the only item of discovery left was taking his deposition.

This plan is fundamentally unfair because it would force Respondents to save all discovery related to Mr. Epting until the end of the discovery period. The Rules of Civil Procedure, however, do not force parties to take discovery in any particular order; rather, parties are free to serve written discovery, serve subpoenas, and notice depositions in any order or timeframe they wish as long as it comports with any scheduling order imposed by the court. One

party has no right to force a particular order or timeframe for discovery on the other, and it would be manifestly unfair to permit one party to dictate to the other party the discovery schedule by naming their lawyer as an expert witness.

If Mr. Epting is to be an expert witness concerning Stokes-Craven's acts and omissions with respect to settling the *Austin* case, then there is a great deal of work to be done. To start, Respondents must subpoena documents concerning Mr. Epting's communications and file materials related to the entire four-year timespan from when he entered an appearance for Stokes-Craven in the *Austin* case to when that case was settled. This discovery necessarily includes Mr. Epting's communications with Stokes-Craven, as Mr. Epting cannot testify concerning his service as Stokes-Craven's attorney, and Stokes-Craven's motivations, thought process, settlement strategy, or the reasonableness of any of these items without placing these communications at issue.<sup>3</sup> Because of the attorney-client privilege, these materials were previously unavailable to Respondents, so discovery on those materials must start from scratch. Moreover, because this discovery involves a unique set of privilege issues, the parties may expect discovery disputes, and it will take some time to resolve the written discovery alone. Then, Respondents must prepare for and take Mr. Epting's deposition, which, because of privilege issues and disputes concerning the same, will likely not be a single event.

Moreover, Mr. Epting's opinions are inextricably tied to the opinions of the Stokes-Craven damages experts, as all of these witnesses will testify in one way or another as to why

---

<sup>3</sup> Generally, the attorney-client privilege is waived when: "(1) assertion of the privilege was a result of some affirmative act, such as filing suit, by the asserting party; (2) through this affirmative act, the asserting party put the protected information at issue making it relevant to the case; and (3) application of the privilege would have denied the opposing party access to information vital to his defense." *White*, 944 F. Supp. 2d at 459 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted). Here, Mr. Epting's opinions as to the reasonableness of Stokes-Craven's action *while he was serving as its counsel* will necessarily be based, at least in part, on his communications with Stokes-Craven. Thus, the communications are at issue, and Respondents must have access to them to test the veracity and strength of Mr. Epting's opinions.